
California State University, Dominguez Hills 
Toro Auxiliary Partners 

Basic Financial Statements  
(With Supplementary Information) 
and Independent Auditor's Report 

June 30, 2025 



California State University, Dominguez Hills  
Toro Auxiliary Partners 

 
Index 

 
 

1 

Page 

Independent Auditor's Report 2 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 5 

Basic Financial Statements 

Statement of Net Position  10 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 11 

Statement of Cash Flows 12 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 13 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 14 

Notes to Financial Statements 15 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Changes in Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability and  
Related Ratios 37 

Schedule of Other Postemployment Benefits Contributions 38 

Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Net Position 40 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 41 

Other Information 42 

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 53 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 55 



 

2 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Board of Directors 
California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
(A California State University Auxiliary Organization) 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners, a component 
unit of California State University, Dominguez Hills, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise California State University, 
Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' basic financial statements as listed in the index.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners as of June 30, 2025, 
and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America ("GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of California State University, 
Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about California State University, 
Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months 
beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary 
Partners' internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary 
Partners' ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis on pages 5 to 8, Schedule of Changes in Net Other 
Postemployment Benefits Liability and Related Ratios on page 37, and the Schedule of Other 
Postemployment Benefits Contributions on page 38 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' basic 
financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information on pages 40 to 52 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by an Administrative Directive dated June 24, 2003, 
Financial Reporting Requirements for Auxiliary Organizations, from California State University Office of 
the Chancellor, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The accompanying supplementary information on pages 40 to 52 is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the accompanying 
supplementary information on pages 40 to 52 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
25, 2025 on our consideration of California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' 
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of California State 
University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners' 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Los Angeles, California 
September 25, 2025 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2025 
(Unaudited) 
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Introduction 

The California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners ("TAP") is a nonprofit 
organization formed to support the mission of California State University, Dominguez Hills (the 
"University"). To fulfill this mission, TAP pursues a wide range of opportunities in the areas of 
developing and administering research and educational grants and contracts; conducting the 
bookstore, food service, and vending machine operations on the campus; developing land and 
commercial enterprises; administering various educationally related functions, special programs, and 
other activities. 

This section of TAP's annual financial report presents management's discussion and analysis of the 
financial performance of TAP during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. This discussion has been 
prepared by management along with the financial statements and related note disclosures and should 
be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the financial statements and related notes. 
The financial statements, related notes and this discussion are the responsibility of management. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The annual report consists of a series of financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements – 
and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities. For reporting 
purposes, TAP is considered a special-purpose government engaged only in business-type and 
fiduciary activities, which best represent the activities of TAP. 

The financial statements include the statement of net position; the statement of revenues, expenses 
and changes in net position; and the statement of cash flows. These statements are supported by the 
notes to the financial statements and this section. All sections must be considered together to obtain a 
complete understanding of the financial picture of TAP. 

Statement of Net Position – The statement of net position includes all assets, deferred outflows, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows. It is prepared on an accrual basis as of the statement date. It also 
identifies major categories of restrictions on the net position of TAP. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – The statement of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position presents the revenues earned and expenses incurred during the 
year on an accrual basis. 

Statement of Cash Flows – The statement of cash flows presents the inflows and outflows of cash for 
the year and is summarized by operating, noncapital financing, capital and related financing, and 
investing activities. The statement is prepared using the direct method of cash flows and, therefore, 
presents gross rather than net amounts for the year's activities. 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
June 30, 2025 
(Unaudited) 
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Analytical overview 

Summary 
TAP's net position decreased by approximately $3.4M. This is primarily due to an increase in 
institutional support and auxiliary enterprise expenses, offset by a net increase in operating revenues. 

Statement of Net Position 
TAP's summary of net position as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

FY2024-25 FY2023-24 Change
Assets: 

Current assets 17,004,959$    18,919,125$    (1,914,166)$    
Long-term assets 4,706,422        5,274,255        (567,833)         
Capital assets, net 190,848           312,800           (121,952)         

Total assets 21,902,229      24,506,180      (2,603,951)      

Deferred outflows of resources: 474,728                313,886                160,842                
Liabilities:

Current liabilities 13,822,445      11,747,071      2,075,374             
Long-term liabilities 197,695           1,250,293        (1,052,598)      

Total liabilities 14,020,140      12,997,364      1,022,776       

Deferred inflows of resources: 324,246                372,598                (48,352)                

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 190,848           312,800           (121,952)              
Unrestricted 7,841,723        11,137,304      (3,295,581)      

Total net position 8,032,571$      11,450,104$    (3,417,533)$    
 

Assets 
Total assets decreased by $2.6M compared to prior year. This change is attributable to a decrease in long-
term investments, a decrease in TAP's accounts receivable, and an increase in accumulated depreciation. 

Liabilities 
Total liabilities rose by $1M from the prior year, driven primarily by higher current liabilities related to 
amounts due to related parties. This increase was partially offset by a reduction in long-term liabilities. 

Net Position 
Total net position decreased by $3.4M compared to the prior year. The decrease reflects increased related 
party expenses, partially offset by higher operating revenues. 

 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
June 30, 2025 
(Unaudited) 
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position  
The following table is a summary of TAP's revenues, expenses and changes in net position comparing 
FY 2024-25 with FY 2023-24: 

FY2024-25 FY2023-24 Change

Grants and contracts 25,864,118$       22,930,959$       2,933,159$         
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 350,009              2,035,088           (1,685,079)          
Other operating revenues 3,914,860           3,073,901           840,959              

Total operating revenues 30,128,987         28,039,948         2,089,039           

Instruction 4,238,815           2,816,143           1,422,672           
Research 4,942,582           6,703,108           (1,760,526)          
Academic support 8,186,419           7,540,235           646,184              
Student services 2,969,545           2,574,329           395,216              
Institutional support 4,777,969           2,422,469           2,355,500           
Student grants and scholarships 69,487                13,683                55,804                
Auxiliary enterprise expenses 8,769,376           5,285,030           3,484,346           
Depreciation 121,952 115,163 6,789                  

Total operating expenses 34,076,145         27,470,160         6,605,985           

Investment income, net 618,595              1,212,349           (593,754)             
Interest expense (31,374)               (34,455)               3,081                  

   
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 587,221              1,177,894           (590,673)             

Changes in net position (3,359,937)          1,747,682           (5,107,619)          

Net position, beginning of year, as reported 11,450,104         9,702,422           1,747,682           

Restatement due to GASB 101 adoption (57,596)               -                          (57,596)               

Net position, beginning of year, as restated 11,392,508         9,702,422           21,094,930         

Net position - ending 8,032,571$         11,450,104$       (3,359,937)$        

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Operating revenues:

Operating expenses:

Operating revenues 
Total operating revenues increased by $2M compared to the prior year. The overall increase in total 
operating revenues is primarily attributable to revenues from additional grants. 

Operating expenses 
Total operating expenses increased $6.6M compared to the prior year. The increase is primarily 
attributable to an increase in auxiliary enterprise expenses and institutional support.  

 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
June 30, 2025 
(Unaudited) 
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Capital assets and debt administration 
Capital assets 
TAP has $190K in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, a decrease from $121K from prior 
year, primarily related to current year depreciation of $121K. 

Debt 
As of June 30, 2025, TAP had $886K in debt with a decrease of $789K resulting from an 80K decrease 
in compensated absences and $709K decrease in note payable. Note 8 provides additional information 
on long-term liabilities. A comparison is summarized below: 

FY2023-24, 
FY2024-25 as restated Change

Compensated absences 350,830$         430,701$         (79,871)$         
Notes payable 535,285           1,244,620        (709,335)         

886,115$         1,675,321$      (789,206)$       
 



 

 

Basic Financial Statements 
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Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2025 

 
 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,147,910$       
Accounts receivable, net 9,051,347
Due from related parties 671,656
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 134,046

Total current assets 17,004,959       

Noncurrent assets
Long-term investments 4,706,422
Capital assets, net 190,848

Total noncurrent assets 4,897,270         

Total assets 21,902,229       

Deferred outflows of resources - other postemployment benefits 474,728

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,169,769
Accrued salaries and benefits payable 607,200
Accrued compensated absences 350,830            
Unearned revenue 3,718,163
Debt 535,285
Due to related parties 5,436,737
Interest payable 4,461

Total current liabilities 13,822,445       

Long-term liabilities
Postemployment benefits other than pensions 197,695

Total long-term liabilities 197,695            

Total liabilities 14,020,140       

Deferred inflows of resources - other postemployment benefits 324,246

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 190,848            
Unrestricted 7,841,723         

Total net position 8,032,571$       
 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Operating revenues
Grants and contracts

Federal 20,734,163$     
State and local 2,420,649
Nongovernmental 2,709,306

Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 350,009
Other operating revenues 3,914,860

Total operating revenues 30,128,987       

Operating expenses
Instruction 4,238,815         
Research 4,942,582         
Academic support 8,186,419         
Student services 2,969,545         
Institutional support 4,777,969         
Student grants and scholarships 69,487              
Auxiliary enterprise expenses 8,769,376         
Depreciation 121,952

Total operating expenses 34,076,145       

Operating loss (3,947,158)        

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income, net of fees 618,595
Interest expense (31,374)             

Net nonoperating revenues 587,221            

Change in net position (3,359,937)        

Net position, beginning of year, as reported 11,450,104       

Restatement due to GASB 101 adoption (57,596)             

Net position, beginning of year, as restated 11,392,508       

Net position, end of year 8,032,571$       
 

 
 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Cash flows from operating activities
Federal grants and contracts 19,173,799$       
State and local grants and contracts 2,238,481         
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 2,505,415         
Payments to suppliers (11,009,722)      
Payments to employees (17,121,037)      
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises 741,147            
Other receipts 3,754,155         

Net cash provided by operating activities 282,239

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Interest paid on notes payable (51,710)             
Payments on notes payable (709,335)           

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities (761,045)           

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income 197,989            
Investment expense (34,191)             
Purchase of investments (495,738)           
Sale of investments 1,518,368         

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,186,428

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 707,622
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 6,440,288

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 7,147,910$         

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by operating activities
Operating loss (3,947,158)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash provided by
operating activities

Depreciation 121,952            
Deferred outflows of resources (160,842)           
Deferred inflows of resources (48,352)             
Change in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 2,213,580         
Due from related parties 391,138            
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,070              
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,568,733         
Accrued salaries and benefits payable (108,809)           
Accrued compensated absences (79,871)             
Unearned revenue (4,320,707)        
Due to related parties 3,885,851         
Other liabilities (136,606)           
Postemployment benefits other than pensions (113,740)           

Net cash provided by operating activities 282,239$           
 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
June 30, 2025 

 
 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 474,435$          

Total assets 474,435            

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 113
Due to related parties 1,464

Total liabilities 1,577                

Net position
Restricted:

Individuals, organizations, and other governments 472,858            

Total net position 472,858$          
 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 
Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 
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Additions
Program income 104,227$          
Gifts 3,893
Other income 448,240

Total additions 556,360            

Deductions
Distributions 265,381            
Administrative expenses 77,865

Total deductions 343,246            

Change in fiduciary net position 213,114            

Net position, beginning of year 259,744            

Net position, end of year 472,858$          
 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2025 
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Note 1 - Business and summary of significant accounting policies 

Reporting entity 
California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners ("TAP") is a nonprofit California 
public benefit corporation, which is an auxiliary organization of California State University, 
Dominguez Hills (the "University"). TAP is included as a component unit in the financial statements 
of the University. TAP assists the University in various activities including developing and 
administering research and educational grants and contracts; conducting the bookstore, food 
service, and vending machine operations on the campus; developing land and commercial 
enterprises; administering various educationally related functions, special programs, and other 
activities. 

Basis of accounting and measurement focus 
The accompanying basic financial statements of TAP have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), as 
promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB"), the accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. As a 
component unit of a public institution, TAP has presented its basic financial statements using the 
reporting model for special-purpose governments engaged only in business-type activities in 
accordance with GASB Statements No. 34 and 35. 

TAP operates as a business enterprise and the accompanying financial statements reflect the flow 
of economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  

TAP records revenue in part from assisting the University in various activities including developing 
and administering research and educational grants and contracts; conducting the bookstore, food 
service, and vending machine operations on the campus; developing land and commercial 
enterprises; administering various educationally related functions, special programs, and other 
activities. Accordingly, TAP has chosen to present its basic financial statements using the reporting 
model for special-purpose governments engaged in business-type activities. This model allows all 
financial information for TAP to be reported in a single column in each of the basic financial 
statements. 

Fiduciary activities 
TAP administers agency assets on behalf of campus organizations. TAP is acting as an agent for 
the transactions. Accordingly, the activity of such organizations is presented in a separate 
statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. 

Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits and a money market account with Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A. ("WFB"). It is composed significantly of funds held in depository accounts for other 
auxiliary organizations of California State University, Dominguez Hills campus. TAP provides 
accounting and management services for California State University, Philanthropic Foundation, the 
Loker University Student Union, Dominguez Hills Corporation, and limited services for the 
Associated Students, Inc., and holds depository accounts on their behalf. These deposits, upon 
receipt, are normally expected to be held for three months or less. 
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June 30, 2025 
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Short-term investments 
Investments with original maturities greater than three months and remaining maturities less than 
one year are classified as short-term investments. Investments with remaining maturities greater 
than one year are classified as long-term investments. TAP has no short-term investments at June 
30, 2025. 

Accounts receivable 
Receivables consist of contracts and other miscellaneous receivables. TAP uses the allowance 
method of accounting for receivables determined to be potentially uncollectable. Management 
provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a provision for an adjustment to a valuation 
allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Balances that 
remain outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through 
a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.  

Prepaid expenses 
Prepaid expenses and other prepaid items are expensed ratably over their respective terms of 
agreement. 

Investments 
Investments are reflected at fair value and net asset value. Gains and losses are included in the 
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position as investment income (net of fees). 

Capital assets 
Capital assets are stated at cost or estimated historical cost if purchased, or at acquisition value at 
date of donation if donated. Capital assets with a value of less than $5,000 are not capitalized. TAP 
is required to capitalize infrastructure assets that have been acquired, or that have received major 
improvements, in fiscal years ended after June 30, 1980. Title to all assets, whether purchased, 
constructed, or donated, is held by TAP. Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to 10 years. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated 
useful lives or the term of the lease. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add 
to the value of the asset or materially extend its life are not capitalized. 

Deferred outflows and deferred inflows 
Deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to the postemployment benefit plan are 
certain changes in net position that are to be recognized in future postemployment benefit plan 
expense. 

Accrued compensated absences 
Compensated absences are those absences for which employees will be paid, such as paid time 
off, computed in accordance with GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. A liability for 
compensated absences reported on the statement of net position consists of leave that has not 
been used that is attributable to services already rendered, accumulates and is more likely than not 
to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash. 

Benefited employees begin to accrue paid vacation the first of the month following date of hire and 
accrue vacation according to the accrual schedule included in the employee handbook. Vacation is 
not accrued during periods of layoff, unpaid leave or when the employees are not scheduled for 
certain months of the year. 
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All full-time employees working 40 hours are eligible for sick leave, regardless of whether they are 
in a permanent or temporary employment status. The payroll system begins accruing full-time sick 
leave on the employee’s date of hire. Thereafter, employees accrue 8 hours of sick leave per 
month, with no maximum accrual cap. Unused sick leave balances do not reset annually and 
continue to accrue over the course of employment. The accrual rate remains fixed throughout the 
employee’s tenure. 

All part-time employees working up to 39 hours per week, receive 40 hours of paid sick leave, 
accessible after 90 days of employment. The unused balance of sick leave is zeroed out on 
December 31 of each calendar year and resets to 40. 

All full-time employees working 40 hours are eligible to receive 8 hours of personal holiday per year, 
regardless of whether they are in a permanent or temporary employment status. Personal holiday 
must be utilized within the same year it was earned. The time-off benefit resets on January 1st. 
When an employee separates, the personal holiday is paid out in full if there is a balance. 

Accrued compensated absences at June 30, 2025 were $350,830. 

Unearned revenue 
Unearned revenue consists primarily of unearned revenue related to federal grants and contracts 
and any commissions paid in advance for commercial enterprise activities. 

Other liabilities 
Other liabilities include sales tax, nonresident alien tax withholding, and miscellaneous payroll 
withholdings. 

Components of net position 
TAP's net position is classified into the following net asset categories: 

Net investment in capital assets - This component of the net position consists of capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 
mortgages, notes or other borrowings, lease liabilities, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds or deferred 
inflows of resources at year-end, the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is 
not included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. 

Restricted - This component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities 
related to those assets. 

Unrestricted - This component of net position consists of the net amount of those assets that are 
not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted component 
of net position. 

Policy regarding use of restricted versus unrestricted resources 
When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted resources are 
available, TAP will utilize restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as needed. 

Classification of revenues and expenses 
TAP considers operating revenues and expenses in the statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position to be those revenues and expenses that result from exchange transactions 
or from other activities that are connected directly to TAP's primary functions. Exchange 
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transactions include charges for services rendered and the acquisition of goods and services. 
Certain other transactions are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 33. These nonoperating activities include TAP's net investment income (net of 
fees), gifts, and interest expense. 

Grants and contracts 
TAP serves as administrator for various grants and contracts awarded by governmental and private 
institutions. Amounts administered by TAP are recorded as revenues and expenses in the 
accompanying basic financial statements. 

Income taxes 
TAP is exempt from federal income and state franchise taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code and Section 23701(d) of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, 
respectively. Accordingly, there is no provision for income taxes in the financial statements. 

TAP has evaluated its tax positions and the certainty as to whether those tax positions will be 
sustained in the event of an audit by taxing authorities at the federal and state levels. The primary 
tax positions evaluated are related to TAP's continued qualification as a tax-exempt organization 
and whether there is unrelated business income activities conducted that would be taxable. 
Management has determined that all income tax positions will more likely than not be sustained 
upon potential audit or examination; therefore, no disclosures of uncertain income tax positions are 
required. 

Use of estimates 
In preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP, management is required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

New Accounting pronouncement 
Effective for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024, TAP implemented the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. This Statement replaces GASB Statement No. 16 
and establishes a unified model for recognizing and measuring liabilities associated with 
compensated absences. 

Under GASB 101, a liability is recognized for leave that: 

• Is attributable to services already rendered, 
• Accumulates and carries forward to future periods, 
• Is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid or settled. 

 
Previously, TAP accrued vacation leave only. Sick leave, although earned monthly and carried 
forward without limit, was not accrued because it was not paid upon termination. Under GASB 101, 
TAP reviewed historical usage patterns and determined that a portion of accumulated sick leave is 
more likely than not to be used. As a result, TAP now recognizes a liability for that portion in the 
proprietary fund financial statements. 

Except for the line items listed in the table below, the June 30, 2024 basic financial statements were 
not restated for implementation of GASB 101 because it was not considered practical to do so. 
History of employee sick leave usage is not readily available for the time period prior to June 30, 
2024 and the impact to net position as of June 30, 2023 is not considered material to TAP’s 
financial statements. 
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The implementation of GASB 101 had the following effect on financial statement line items as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2024: 

Net position, as previously reported 11,450,104$       
Cummulative effect of implementing GASB 101 (57,596)               

Net position, as restated 11,392,508$       
 

Fair value measurements 
TAP reports its fair value measurements using a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 
used to measure fair value in accordance with GASB 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction in the principal or most advantageous market at the measurement date under 
current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. Inputs used to determine fair value refer broadly to the assumptions 
that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability including assumptions about risk. 
Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the 
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data 
obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are inputs that 
reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use 
in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available. GASB 72 establishes a fair 
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 

This hierarchy, established by U.S. GAAP, requires that entities maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The three levels of 
inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets to which TAP has 
access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include: 

• quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
• quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active; 
• observable inputs other than quoted prices for the asset or liability (for example, interest 

rates and yield curves); and 
• inputs derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation 

or by other means. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs should be used to 
measure the fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available. 

When available, TAP measures fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide the 
most reliable evidence of fair value. 

Risk financing activities 
TAP is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which TAP carries commercial insurance. 
TAP has not had any significant reduction in insurance coverage, and there have been no claims in 
excess of coverage in any of the past three years. 
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Note 2 - Liquidity and availability 

TAP regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual 
commitments. TAP has various sources of liquidity at its disposal, including cash and cash 
equivalents and receivables. 

At June 30, 2025, TAP had the following financial assets and liquidity resources available over the 
next 12 months: 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,147,910$       
Accounts receivable, net 9,051,347         
Due from related parties 671,656

Total 16,870,913$     
 

Note 3 - Cash and cash equivalents 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that TAP will not be able to recover deposits that are in 
possession of an outside party. The California Government Code and Education Code do not 
contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for 
deposits, other than the provision that a financial institution must secure deposits made by state or 
local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository 
regulated under state law. The risk is mitigated in that TAP's deposits are maintained at financial 
institutions that are fully insured or collateralized as required by state law. 

Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2025 are composed of the following: 

Depository accounts 583,501$          
Money market account 6,564,409

Total 7,147,910$       
 

Cash in banks 
The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan associations to 
secure TAP's deposits. Obligations pledged to secure deposits must be delivered to an institution 
other than the institution in which the deposit is made; however, the trust department of the same 
institution may hold them. Written custodial agreements are required that provide, among other 
things, that the collateral securities are held separate from the assets of the custodial institution. 
The pledge to secure deposits is administered by the California Superintendent of Banks. The 
market value of pledged securities must equal 110% of the total amount deposited by the public 
agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure an agency's deposits by pledging 
first trust deeds or first mortgages having a value of 150% of an agency's total deposits. All such 
collateral is considered to be held by the pledging financial institution's trust departments or agents 
in the name of TAP. At June 30, 2025, cash held by financial institutions for TAP of $12,772,756 
was insured and collateralized as described above. At June 30, 2025, the book balance for TAP 
was $7,147,910. 
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Financial instruments that potentially subject TAP to concentrations of credit risk consist principally 
of receivables and cash accounts in financial institutions. The total cash balances are insured by 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000 per institution. As of June 30, 
2025, TAP's bank deposits exceeded the balance insured by the FDIC by $12,522,756. TAP 
monitors its financial institutions and the concentration of credit risk on a regular basis and does not 
anticipate nonperformance by the financial institutions. 

Note 4 - Accounts receivable 

The following is a summary of accounts receivable at June 30, 2025: 

Grants receivables 7,112,113$       
Other receivables 2,175,640
Allowance for doubtful accounts (236,406)           

Total 9,051,347$       
 

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") provides an Employee 
Retention Credit ("ERC"), which is a refundable tax credit against certain employment taxes for 
eligible employers based on a percentage of qualified wages paid to employees through December 
31, 2020. Additional relief provisions were passed by the United States government, which 
extended and slightly expanded the qualified wage caps on these credits through December 31, 
2021. Based on these additional provisions, the tax credit is now equal to about 70% of qualified 
wages paid to employees during a quarter, and the CARES Act ERC can be $26,000 per employee. 
The CARES Act ERC is generated through refund payments from filing an amended Form 941, 
Employer Quarterly Federal Tax Return, for each applicable quarter in 2020 and 2021. During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, TAP recorded a $445,000 receivable related to the 2021 CARES 
Act ERC, of which $386,244 is still outstanding as of June 30, 2025.  

Note 5 - Investments 

The following is a summary of investments at June 30, 2025: 

Equities 1,682,778$       
Money market funds 197,158            
Corporate and governmental bonds 311,138            
Mutual funds 1,686,235         
Alternative investments 829,113            

Total 4,706,422$       
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The following table summarizes information regarding TAP's investments measured using net asset 
value at June 30, 2025: 

Investment Net Asset Value Strategy
Unfunded 

Commitments
Redemption 

terms
Redemption 
restriction

Blackstone Real Estate 159,661$          

Achieve capital appreciation 
principally through investing in 

investment funds None

Redeemable 
on a quarterly 

basis 95 days notice

Ironwood Institutional 
Multi-strategy Fund LLC 524,784            

Achieve capital appreciation 
principally through investing in 

investment funds None

Redeemable 
on a quarterly 

basis 95 days notice

Hedger Fund Guided 
Portfolio Solutions Class I 
71H78 144,668            

Achieve capital appreciation 
principally through investing in 

investment funds None

Redeemable 
on a quarterly 

basis
60-95 days 

notice

829,113$          
 

Custodial credit risk 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, TAP's deposits may 
not be returned. The cash and cash equivalents of TAP are maintained at financial institutions and 
are fully insured up to $250,000 per financial institution or collateralized. 

Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC") protects against the loss of cash and securities - 
such as stocks and bonds - held by a customer at a financially-troubled SIPC member brokerage 
firm. The limit of SIPC protection is $500,000, which includes a $250,000 limit for cash. 

For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
TAP will not be able to recover the value of its investments that are in the possession of the 
counterparty. As of June 30, 2025, investments held by financial institutions for TAP of $1,993,916 
were uninsured, of which $500,000 was protected under the SIPC. 

Investment credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization. TAP's investment policy does not specifically address potential credit risk 
exposure or the extent to which it is limited. 

TAP's formal investment policy limits its investment choices to the following: 

• Local Agency Investment Fund ("LAIF") 
• Cash equivalents having maturities of less than one year 
• Global public equities, including domestic equities, international developed equity, and 

emerging markets 
• Global fixed income, including domestic fixed income and global fixed income 
• Alternative investments, including hedge funds and private equity 
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The credit risk profile of fixed income securities is as follows: 

Fixed income securities 6/30/2025 Credit rating
Corporate bonds 32,995$         A
Corporate bonds 15,507           A-
Corporate bonds 13,020           A+
Corporate bonds 5,109             AA-
Corporate bonds 27,166           BBB
Corporate bonds 37,332           BBB+
Municipal bonds 24,445           AA-
Municipal bonds 17,828           AA
Municipal bonds 27,606           Unrated
US treasury bonds and notes 110,130         AAA

311,138$       
 

At June 30, 2025, TAP's fixed income securities have the following maturities: 

Less than
1 year 1 -5 years 5 - 10 years Over 10 years Total

Corporate bonds 4,956$           71,208$         54,965$         -$               131,129$       
Municipal bonds 29,844                       31,277 8,758             -                 69,879           
US treasury bonds and notes -                             56,893 53,237           -                 110,130         

34,800$         159,378$       116,960$       -$               311,138$       
 

Concentration of investment credit risk 
TAP's formal investment policy limits the assets to the following target and maximum allocations: 

Target 
allocation

Minimum 
allocation

Maximum 
allocation

Equities 55.0% 40.0% 65.0%
Fixed income 25.0% 20.0% 45.0%
Cash 2.0% 0.0% 10.0%
Alternative investments 18.0% 0.0% 25.0%

Total 100%

 
 

 

 

 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2025 

 
 

24 

The composition of the investment income (net of fees) on the statement of revenues, expenses 
and changes in net position: 

Interest and dividends 197,989$          
Investment expenses (34,191)             
Unrealized gain, net 454,797

Total 618,595$          
 

Note 6 - Fair value measurements 

At June 30, 2025, investments are carried at fair value and are classified in the table below in one 
of the three categories as described in Note 1: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments at 

NAV Total

Equities 1,682,778$    -$               -$               -$               1,682,778$    
Money market funds 197,158         -                 -                 -                 197,158         
Corporate and governmental bonds -                 311,138         -                 -                 311,138         
Mutual funds 1,686,235      -                 -                 -                 1,686,235      
Alternative investments -                 -                 -                 829,113         829,113         

Total 3,566,171$    311,138$       -$               829,113$       4,706,422$    

 
The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although TAP believes its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could 
result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

TAP measures fair value in accordance with GASB 72. GASB 72 establishes a fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. This hierarchy consists 
of three broad levels: Level 1 inputs consist of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets and have the highest priority; Level 2 inputs, valued using quoted prices for 
identical securities in markets that are not active; and Level 3 unobservable inputs in which there is 
little or no market data, which requires TAP to develop its own assumptions. TAP uses appropriate 
valuation techniques based on the available inputs to measure the fair value of its investments. 
When available, TAP measures fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide the 
most reliable evidence of fair value. Level 3 inputs are only used when Level 1 or Level 2 inputs are 
not available. Assets reported at fair value at June 30, 2025 are Level 1 and 2 inputs. 

TAP's policy is to recognize transfers in and transfers out as of the actual date of the event or 
change in circumstance that caused the transfer. 
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Note 7 - Capital assets 

The capital assets balance at June 30, 2025 consists of the following activity: 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2024 Increases Decreases Transfers June 30, 2025

Capital assets, depreciable
Equipment 208,323$         -$                  -$                  -$                  208,323$          
Leasehold improvements 519,835 -                    -                    -                    519,835

Total depreciable capital assets 728,158           -                    -                    -                    728,158            

Less accumulated depreciation
Equipment (99,909)            (45,190)             -                    -                    (145,099)           
Leasehold improvements (315,449)          (76,762)             -                    -                    (392,211)           

Total accumulated depreciation (415,358)          (121,952)           -                    -                    (537,310)           

Capital assets - net 312,800$         (121,952)$         -$                  -$                  190,848$          
 

For the year ended June 30, 2025, depreciation expense was $121,952. 

Note 8 - Debt 

Effective July 1, 2020, TAP executed a $1,500,000 promissory note with California State University 
Dominguez Hills Philanthropic Foundation. The note was amended on January 1, 2025 with a 
maturity date of December 31, 2026 and bears interest at 2.00% per annum. The first loan 
repayment of $545,991 was due on February 1, 2025, the second and final loan repayment of 
$535,285 is due February 1, 2026.   

Debt obligations activity for the year ended June 30, 2025, is as follows: 

Balance Balance Due in
July 1, 2024 Increases Decreases June 30, 2025 one year

Notes payable 1,244,620$       -$                  (709,335)$         535,285$          535,285$          

1,244,620$       -$                  (709,335)$         535,285            535,285$          

Less current portion 535,285            

Total long-term obligation -$                  
 

TAP's future payments of notes payable are as follows: 

Principal and
Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Interest

2026 535,285$          10,706$            545,991$          

Total 535,285$          10,706$            545,991$          
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Accrued compensated absences at year-end are included in current liabilities in the statement of 
net position and consists of the following activity during the year ended June 30, 2025. 

Balance
July 1, 2024, Balance Due in
as restated Increases Decreases June 30, 2025 one year

Compensated absences 430,701$          469,729$          (549,600)$         350,830$          350,830$          
 

Note 9 - Operating lease 

TAP entered into a sublease, which expires on June 30, 2026,  with the Donald P. & Katherine B. 
Loker University Student Union (the "Student Union") for rental of the food service area located in 
the Student Union building. Payments of rental fee are made by TAP on a quarterly basis. In 
addition, TAP pays rental fees based on commissions of the University Bookstore. Total rental fees 
paid for the year ended June 30, 2025 amounted to $74,274. 

Note 10 - Pension plans 

TAP maintains a 403(b) retirement plan for all eligible employees with Voya Financial Retirement 
Insurance and Annuity Company ("Voya"). 

Plan description – Voya is an agent which provides variable individual and group annuities for 
retirement and tax-deferred savings plans at non-profit or publicly-supported organizations. The 
contributions are invested and then disbursed at the time of the employee's retirement in the form of 
lifetime income or other payment. 

Funding policy – TAP's pension plan includes two groups of employees: those hired prior to July 
1, 2014, which are grandfathered under the original funding policy, and those hired after July 1, 
2014, which are subject to the current funding policy. 

For those employees hired prior to July 1, 2014, participants were required to contribute 2%-4.99% 
to receive an employer contribution amount equivalent to 4% of their compensation. For those 
employees hired after July 1, 2014, participants were required to contribute 5% or higher to receive 
an employer contribution amount equivalent to 8% of their compensation. 

Annual pension cost – For the year ended June 30, 2025, TAP's annual Voya pension cost 
totaled $317,463. 

Annual contributions from employees – For the year ended June 30, 2025, employees 
contributed $317,463 to the Pension Plan (not including tax deferred elective deferrals to TAP's 
non-ERISA plan). 
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Note 11 - Postemployment healthcare benefits  

Plan description 
TAP sponsors a single-employer defined benefit postretirement healthcare plan to pay a portion of 
the retiree's insurance premiums. TAP participates in the Auxiliaries Multiple Employer VEBA 
("Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association"). The Auxiliaries Multiple Employer VEBA is a 
separate 501(c)(9) organization established in August 2010 to assist in funding postretirement 
healthcare benefits for recognized auxiliaries of California State University System. The Auxiliaries 
Multiple Employer VEBA issues separate audited financial statements. Copies of the annual report 
may be obtained from Keenan Associates, 2355 Crenshaw Blvd. Suite 200, Torrance, CA 90501. 

TAP provides retiree medical benefits with the Auxiliary Organizations Risk Management Alliance 
Members – California State University Risk Management Authority ("AORMA – CSURMA") to 
eligible employees hired on or after October 1, 2014 and before June 23, 2016 in accordance with 
the following age requirement and vesting schedule: 

Age and years of 
service requirement

Percentage of 
employer 

contribution

59 1/2+ and 20 
years of service 100
65+ and 15-19 
years of service 75
65+ and 10-14 
years of service 50

 
Employees hired prior to October 1, 2014 shall be eligible for postretirement health benefits 
(medical) and are eligible to receive 100% of the employer contribution set by the board of 
directors, provided they meet the vesting period requirement of five years of employment and have 
attained the age of 59 ½ as of the date of their retirement. This benefit continues for the life of the 
retiree and then for the life of a surviving spouse, if any. Retirees may select any retiree medical 
plan offered by AORMA – CSURMA, including spouse or family coverage, but must incur the cost 
of premiums exceeding the cap. 

Total OPEB liability, fiduciary net position, and net OPEB liability 
In accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting by 
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("GASB 75"), the OPEB expense 
and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB that are 
required to be reported by an employer primarily result from changes in the components of the net 
OPEB liability - that is, changes in the total OPEB liability and in the OPEB plan's fiduciary net 
position. 

This statement requires that most changes in the net OPEB liability be included in OPEB expense 
in the period of the change. For example, changes in the total OPEB liability resulting from current-
period service cost, interest on the total OPEB liability, and changes of benefit terms are required to 
be included in OPEB expense immediately. Projected earnings on the OPEB plan's investments 
also are required to be included in the determination of OPEB expense immediately. 
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In circumstances in which the net OPEB liability is determined based on the results of an actuarial 
valuation, the effects of certain other changes in the net OPEB liability are required to be included in 
OPEB expense over the current and future periods. The effects on the total OPEB liability of (1) 
changes of economic and demographic assumptions or of other inputs and (2) differences between 
expected and actual experience are required to be included in OPEB expense in a systematic and 
rational manner over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives 
of all employees that are provided with benefits through the OPEB plan (active employees and 
inactive employees), beginning in the current period. 

U.S. GAAP requires that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset information within 
certain defined timeframes. For this report, the following timeframes are used: 

Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2023
Measurement date June 30, 2024
Fiscal year end June 30, 2025

 
Information about the OPEB plan 

Inactive employees receiving benefits 16                     
Inactive employees entitled but not receiving benefits -                    
Covered dependents of retirees 10                     
Participating active employees 14                     

Total number of participants 40                     
 

Actuarial methods and assumptions 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan 
as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at 
the time of each valuation.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that 
are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the 
actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

TAP's net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2024 and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2023 rolled 
forward to determine the June 30, 2025 total OPEB liability, based on the following actuarial 
methods and assumptions: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry age normal
Discount rate 6.50%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.25%
Net investment return 6.50%
Healthcare cost trend rate Varies from 4.5% to 7.56%
Mortality rate 2021 CalPERs Experience Study
Pre-retirement turnover 2021 CalPERs Public Agency

Miscellaneous experience study
Retirement CalPERS 2021 Experience Study

•   2% @ 55 for actives hired before January 1, 2013
•   2% @ 62 for actives hired on or after January 1, 2013  
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Changes in the OPEB liability 
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net Net OPEB

Liability Position Liability

Rollback measurement - June 30, 2023 1,713,501$       1,402,066$       311,435$           
Service cost 12,735              -                    12,735               
Interest 115,472            -                    115,472             
Differences between expected and actual experience -                    -                    -                     
Changes of assumptions 91,625              -                    91,625               
Net investment income -                    182,966            (182,966)            
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (155,884)           (155,884)           -                     
Employer contributions -                    155,884            (155,884)            
Employee contributions -                    -                    -                     
Administrative expense -                    (5,278)               5,278                 

Net changes 63,948              177,688            (113,740)            

Measurement at June 30, 2024 1,777,449$       1,579,754$       197,695$           

 
The net OPEB liability is shown as a noncurrent liability on the statement of net position. 

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount and trend rate 
The following presents the net OPEB liability of TAP if it were calculated using a discount rate and 
trend rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, 
for measurement period ended June 30, 2024: 

NOL/(A) $ Change % Change
Discount rate:
1% 6,453$              (191,242)$         -97%
Base: 197,695             -                    -
-1% 427,185             229,490             116%

NOL/(A) $ Change % Change
Trend rate:
1% 273,255$           75,560$             38%
Base: 197,695             -                    -
-1% 129,648             (68,047)             -34%
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Long-term expected rates of return 
As of June 30, 2025, the long-term expected rates of return for each major investment class in the 
plan's portfolio are as follows: 

Assumed
Target allocation gross return

Investment class
Equity 45.00% 8.51%
International Equity 10.00% 9.49%
REITs 6.00% 9.33%
Fixed income 39.00% 4.70%

100.00%
 

Discount rate 
The discount rate is based on a blend of the long-term expected rate of return on assets for benefits 
covered by plan assets and a yield or index for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal 
bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or better for benefits not covered by plan assets.  

Above are the arithmetic long-term expected real rates of return by asset class for the next 10 years 
as provided in a report by JP Morgan. For years thereafter, returns were based on historical 
average index real returns over the last 30 years assuming a similar equity/fixed investment mix 
and a 2.50% inflation rate. Investment expenses were assumed to be 50 basis points per year. 
These returns were matched with cash flows for benefits covered by plan assets, and the Fidelity 
20-year General Obligation Bond index was matched with cash flows not covered by plan assets to 
measure the reasonableness of the choice in discount rate. 

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023

Discount rate 6.50% 7.00%

Fidelity 20-year GO Bond Index 3.97% 3.86%
 

Recognition of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources 
Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized 
in OPEB expense systematically over time. Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the 
year the gain or loss occurs. The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense.  

The recognition period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss: 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings of
OPEB plan investments 5 years
All other amounts Expected Average Remaining Service Lifetime
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OPEB expense and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to OPEB 
As of fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, TAP reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Differences between expected and actual experience in
the measurement of the total OPEB liability 126,969$          202,450$          
Changes in assumptions 101,759            121,796            
Net difference between projected and actual earnings of
OPEB plan investments 26,092              -                    
Employer contributions made after measurement date 219,908            -                    
 

Total 474,728$          324,246$          
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

Deferred
Year ending outflows/(inflows)

June 30, of resources

2025 4,407$              
2026 42,991              
2027 (33,944)             
2028 (28,746)             
2029 (10,346)             

Thereafter (43,788)             

Total (69,426)$           
 

For the measurement period ended June 30, 2024, TAP recognized OPEB expense of $52,857. 

Service cost 12,735$            
Interest on the total OPEB liability 115,472            
Changes in benefit terms -                    
Recognized differences between expected and 

actual experience (5,112)               
Recognized changes of assumptions (5,234)               
Employer contributions -                    
Projected earnings on OPEB plan investments (97,960)             
Recognized differences between projected and actual

earnings on plan investments 22,080              
Administrative expense 5,278                
Other changes in fiduciary net position -                    

Aggregate OPEB expense 47,259$            
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Interest on the total OPEB liability 
For the measurement period ended June 30, 2024, TAP reported interest on the total OPEB liability 
from the following: 

Amount for Portion of Interest on the 
period period Interest rate total OPEB 

a b c liability a*b*c

Beginning total OPEB liability 1,713,501$       100.00% 7% 119,945$          
Service cost 12,735              100.00% 7% 891                   
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (155,884)           50.00% 7% (5,364)               

Total 115,472$          

 
Earnings on plan fiduciary net position 
For the measurement period ended June 30, 2024, TAP reported earnings on plan fiduciary net 
position from the following: 

Amount for Portion of Projected rate Projected
period period of return earnings

a b c a*b*c

Beginning plan fiduciary net position 1,402,066$       100.00% 7% 98,145$            
Employer contributions 155,884            50.00% 7% 5,364                
Employee contributions -                    50.00% 7% -                    
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions (155,884)           50.00% 7% (5,364)               
Administrative expense and other (5,278)               50.00% 7% (185)                  

Total 97,960$            
 

Comparison of projected and actual earnings on investments is as follows: 

Total projected earnings 97,960$            
Actuarial net investment income 182,966            

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on investments (85,006)$           

 
Funding status and funding progress 
Beginning in fiscal year ended June 2011, TAP participated in the Auxiliaries Multiple Employer 
VEBA and contributed $45,000 in fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. TAP contributed an additional 
$50,000 for the 2015-16 fiscal year. In the 2016-17 fiscal year, TAP contributed an additional 
$293,962. The Auxiliaries Multiple Employer VEBA is a separate 501(c)(9) organization established 
in August 2010 to assist in funding postretirement healthcare benefits for recognized auxiliaries of 
California State University System. The total fair market value of assets in the Auxiliaries Multiple 
Employer VEBA as of June 30, 2024 was $1,579,754. 
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The fair value composition of the VEBA consists of the following at June 30, 2024: 

Investments at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total

Domestic equity 719,149$       -$               -$               -$               719,149$       
Fixed income 611,395         -                 -                 -                 611,395         
International equity 152,646         -                 -                 -                 152,646         
Real estate 96,564           -                 -                 -                 96,564           

Total investments 1,579,754$    -$               -$               -$               1,579,754$    
 

In accordance with GASB 75, TAP has recorded the cost and obligation of these benefits in the 
basic financial statements. 

Note 12 - Commitments and contingencies 

The operation of the University Bookstore is contracted to an outside vendor whose contract 
expired in May 2014 and was subsequently renewed. Effective June 1, 2014 to May 31, 2024, TAP 
will receive fees equal to 16.1% of the first $6,000,000 in bookstore sales and 17.1% of all revenues 
over $6,000,000. The fees, which totaled $333,579 for the year ended June 30, 2025, are included 
in sales and services of auxiliary enterprises. On July 25, 2019, the parties amended the agreement 
to add participation in the Follett Access Program, under which the University adopted inclusive 
access course materials as part of its Spring and Summer academic terms. Under this amendment, 
TAP is entitled to additional program-related fees, including a 7% commission on all gross sales of 
Follett Access digital course materials, as well as program-specific invoicing, refund, and adoption 
provisions. 

In January 1995, TAP entered into an agreement with an external vendor to provide vending 
services for the University. The agreement was originally for one year commencing January 5, 
1995, and automatically renews annually. In connection with the contract, TAP receives 25% of all 
vending revenues as commission. The revenues received on this contract, included in sales and 
services of auxiliary enterprises, for the year ended June 30, 2025 amounted to $52,982. 

TAP entered into a sponsorship agreement with Pepsi to give exclusive beverage availability and 
merchandising rights on the University campus for a five-year period beginning January 2015. In 
December 2017, an amendment was entered into that extended the agreement for a five-year 
period beyond the initial term, such that the new expiration date of the agreement is December 31, 
2023 and the full term of the agreement is now the ten-year period from January 1, 2015 to 
December 31, 2024. In connection with the contract, the sponsor agreed to pay TAP up front 
commissions each year, annual product donations, and sales-based commission. The commission 
received on this contract, included in sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, for the year ended 
June 30, 2025 amounted to $3,894. 

Aramark agreement 
On July 5, 2022, the University and TAP entered a campus dining partnership with Aramark, a 
national food services hospitality service vendor. The 10-year partnership agreement makes 
Aramark the exclusive food service provider for the University while providing strategic capital 
investments, sponsorships, and other innovative programs. These expenses will flow through to 
TAP from Aramark's monthly operating statement after being offset by related revenue. 
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The agreement commenced on July 5, 2022, and is in the initial three years of the agreement. TAP 
participates in surpluses and subsidizes losses using a cost-plus management fee model. When 
Aramark reports a monthly surplus, TAP pays a 3% management fee based on revenue which 
excludes sales from catering; in year one, the management fee was waived. When Aramark reports 
a loss, TAP subsidizes the loss to make Aramark whole. In July 2023, TAP and Aramark amended 
the terms of the agreement, with the amendment being effective April 1, 2023, which amended the 
original agreement to make the maximum operating subsidy for which TAP shall be responsible to 
reimburse Aramark in year one of $712,000. 

In years four through 10, the agreement converts into a profit and loss model. When a particular 
month reports a surplus, then TAP will profit share with Aramark by taking a commission which 
starts at 6% and is based on revenue tiers. When a particular month reports a deficit, then TAP 
subsidizes the loss to make Aramark whole. 

Upon execution, Aramark provided an advance in the form of a restricted reimbursable grant for 
$1,500,000 with a $250,000 cap for the purchase of smallwares. Aramark will recoup the grant each 
month with a $12,500 expense through its operating statement over the life of the agreement.  

For the year ended June 30, 2025, commission expense totaled $486,255.  

Grants and contracts 
Amounts received or claimed from federal and state agencies are subject to audit and any claims 
may constitute a liability of applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenses which may be 
potentially disallowed cannot be determined at this time. TAP expects such amounts, if any, to be 
insignificant as of June 30, 2025. 

Litigation 
TAP is subject to certain claims that arise out of the normal operations of TAP. In the opinion of 
management, TAP has sufficient liability insurance to cover any such claims, and these matters will 
not have a material effect on the financial position of TAP if disposed of unfavorably. 

Note 13 - Transactions with related parties 

California State University, Dominquez Hills (the "University") 
TAP and the University provide various services on each other's behalf. Such services are 
appropriately billed. Amounts payable to the University at June 30, 2025 totaled $5,103,655, which 
includes the $1,464 of fiduciary activities. Amounts receivable from the University totaled $586,729 
at June 30, 2025. 

TAP made payments of $3,748,000 to the University during the current fiscal year based on the 
agreements. Amounts paid to TAP during fiscal year 2024-25 totaled $4,517,561. 

Associated Students, Inc., California State University, Dominquez Hills ("ASI") 
TAP and ASI provide various services on each other's behalf. Such services are appropriately 
billed. Amounts payable to ASI at June 30, 2025 totaled $29,812. Amounts receivable from ASI 
totaled $84,927. 

TAP made payments of $204,390 to ASI during the current fiscal year based on the agreements. 
Amounts paid to TAP during fiscal year 2024-25 totaled $1,248,608.  
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The Donald P. and Katherine B. Loker University Student Union, Inc., California State 
University, Dominquez Hills ("USU") 
TAP and USU provide various services on each other's behalf. Such services are appropriately 
billed. Amounts payable to USU at June 30, 2025 totaled $304,734. Amounts receivable from USU 
totaled $0. 

TAP made payments of $475,760 to USU during the current fiscal year based on the agreements. 
Amounts paid to TAP during fiscal year 2024-25 totaled $136,500. 

California State University, Dominquez Hills Philanthropic Foundation (the "Foundation") 
TAP and the Foundation provide various services on each other's behalf. Such services are 
appropriately billed. Amounts payable to the Foundation at June 30, 2025 totaled $0. Amounts 
receivable from the Foundation totaled $0. 

TAP made payments of $762,221 to the Foundation during the current fiscal year based on the 
agreements. Amounts paid to TAP during fiscal year 2024-25 totaled $128,750. 
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The following reflects changes in net OPEB liability for the measurement periods ending June 30: 

Total OPEB Liability 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Service cost 12,735$             23,374$             22,261$             30,797$             29,330$             53,266$             50,730$             48,314$             
Interest 115,472             109,920             110,345             118,466             120,098             141,737             138,988             135,706             
Differences between expected and actual experience -                    80,978              17,725              93,975              (28,240)             (312,654)           (7,683)               (18,032)             
Changes of assumptions 91,625              29,868              -                    (183,114)           -                    (27,064)             -                    -                    
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (155,884)           (157,307)           (157,307)           (177,518)           (115,492)           (164,635)           (126,600)           (116,595)           

Net change in Total OPEB Liability 63,948              89,049              (6,976)               (117,394)           5,696                (309,350)           55,435              49,393              

Total OPEB Liability - beginning <a> 1,713,501          1,624,452          1,631,428          1,748,822          1,743,126          2,052,476          1,997,041          1,947,648          

Total OPEB Liability - ending <b> 1,777,449$        1,713,501$        1,624,452$        1,631,428$        1,748,822$        1,743,126$        2,052,476$        1,997,041$        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contribution - employer 155,884$           186,128$           247,142$           361,533$           115,492$           488,743$           126,600$           561,705$           
Net investment income 182,966             115,194             (279,832)           269,551             38,215              42,710              41,414              24,478              
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (155,884)           (155,091)           (157,307)           (177,518)           (115,492)           (164,635)           (126,600)           (116,595)           
Administrative expense (5,278)               (5,891)               (4,206)               (3,480)               (3,159)               (3,153)               (4,203)               (1,159)               

Net change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 177,688             140,340             (194,203)           450,086             35,056              363,665             37,211              468,429             

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - beginning <c> 1,402,066          1,261,726          1,455,929          1,005,843          970,787             607,122             569,911             101,482             

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - ending <d> 1,579,754          1,402,066          1,261,726          1,455,929          1,005,843          970,787             607,122             569,911             

Net OPEB Liability - beginning <a> - <c> 311,435 362,726 175,499 742,979 772,339             1,445,354          1,427,130          1,846,166          

Net OPEB Liability - ending <b> - <d> 197,695$           311,435$           362,726$           175,499$           742,979$           772,339$           1,445,354$        1,427,130$        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of the Total OPEB
 Liability 89% 82% 78% 89% 58% 56% 30% 29%
Covered-employee payroll 635,023$           1,109,294$        1,300,587$        N/A 1,856,700$        2,429,811$        2,148,798$        3,006,483$        
Plan Net OPEB Liability as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll 31% 28% 28% N/A 40% 32% 67% 47%

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions 
("GASB 75") is applicable. Eventually, 10 years of data will be shown.
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The following reflects the contribution toward the plan during the measurement periods ending June 30: 

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Actuarial determined contributions 34,538$             43,078$             38,951$             91,509$             92,506$             164,907$           519,405$           519,405$           

Contributions to the trust -                    31,037              89,835              184,015             -                    324,108             -                    445,110             
Pay-go payments by employer unreimbursed by the trust 126,092             129,732             121,905             135,622             115,492             136,697             126,600             116,595             
Active implicit rate subsidy transferred to OPEB 29,792              25,359              35,402              41,896              -                    27,938              -                    -                    

Total OPEB contributions 155,884             186,128             247,142             361,533             115,492             488,743             126,600             561,705             

Contribution deficiency (excess) (121,346)$         (143,050)$         (208,191)$         (270,024)$         (22,986)$           (323,836)$         392,805$           (42,300)$           

Covered-employee payroll 635,023$           1,109,294$        1,300,587$        N/A 1,856,700$        2,429,811$        2,148,798$        3,006,483$        

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 25% 17% 19% N/A 6% 20% 6% 19%

Changes of Benefit Terms: The plan had no changes in benefit terms since the previous valuation.
Changes in Assumptions: Discount rate decreased from 7.00% to 6.50% for the 2024 valuation. Net investment return decreased from 7.00% to 6.50% for the 2024 valuation.

Actuarial methods and assumptions

Actuarial Cost Method Entry age normal
Discount rate 6.50%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.25%
Net investment return 6.50%
Healthcare cost trend rate Varies from 4.5% to 7.56%
Mortality rate 2021 CalPERs Experience Study
Pre-retirement turnover 2021 CalPERs Public Agency

Miscellaneous experience study
Retirement CalPERS 2021 Experience Study

•   2% @ 55 for actives hired before January 1, 2013
•   2% @ 62 for actives hired on or after January 1, 2013

(1) Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions 
("GASB 75") is applicable. Eventually, 10 years of data will be shown.
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Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 7,147,910$       
Short-term investments                       -   
Accounts receivable, net            9,723,003
Lease receivable, current portion                       -   
P3 receivable, current portion                       -   
Notes receivable, current portion                       -   
Pledges receivable, net                       -   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets               134,046

Total current assets          17,004,959
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents                       -   
Accounts receivable, net                       -   
Lease receivable, net of current portion                       -   
P3 receivable, net of current portion                       -   
Notes receivable, net of current portion                       -   
Student loans receivable, net                       -   
Pledges receivable, net                       -   
Endowment investments                       -   
Other long-term investments            4,706,422
Capital assets, net               190,848
Other assets                       -   

Total noncurrent assets            4,897,270
Total assets          21,902,229

Deferred outflows of resources:
Unamortized loss on debt refunding                       -   
Net pension liability                       -   
Net OPEB liability               474,728
Leases                       -   
P3                       -   
Others                       -   

Total deferred outflows of resources               474,728
Liabilities:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable            3,169,769
Accrued salaries and benefits               607,200
Accrued compensated absences, current portion               350,830
Unearned revenues            3,718,163
Lease liabilities, current portion                       -   
SBITA liabilities - current portion                       -   
P3 liabilities - current portion                       -   
Long-term debt obligations, current portion               535,285
Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, current portion                       -   
Depository accounts                       -   
Other liabilities            5,441,198

Total current liabilities          13,822,445
Noncurrent liabilities:

Accrued compensated absences, net of current portion                       -   
Unearned revenues                       -   
Grants refundable                       -   
Lease liabilities, net of current portion                       -   
SBITA liabilities, net of current portion                       -   
P3 liabilities, net of current portion                       -   
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion                       -              
portion                       -   
Depository accounts                       -   
Net other postemployment benefits liability               197,695
Net pension liability                       -   
Other liabilities                       -   

Total noncurrent liabilities               197,695
Total liabilities          14,020,140

Deferred inflows of resources:
P3 service concession arrangements                       -   
Net pension liability                       -   
Net OPEB liability               324,246
Unamortized gain on debt refunding                       -   
Nonexchange transactions                       -   
Lease                       -   
P3                       -   
Others                       -   

Total deferred inflows of resources               324,246
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets               190,848
Restricted for:

Nonexpendable – endowments                       -   
Expendable:

Scholarships and fellowships                       -   
Research                       -   
Loans                       -   
Capital projects                       -   
Debt service                       -   
Others                       -   

Unrestricted            7,841,723
Total net position  $       8,032,571 
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Revenues:

Operating revenues:
Student tuition and fees, gross  $                           -   

Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                               -   
Grants and contracts, noncapital:

Federal                 20,734,163
State                   2,420,649
Local                               -   
Nongovernmental                   2,709,306

Sales and services of educational activities                               -   
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, gross                      350,009

Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                               -   
Other operating revenues                   3,914,860

Total operating revenues                 30,128,987
Expenses:

Operating expenses:
Instruction                   4,238,815
Research                   4,942,582
Public service                               -   
Academic support                   8,186,419
Student services                   2,969,545
Institutional support                   4,777,969
Operation and maintenance of plant                               -   
Student grants and scholarships                        69,487
Auxiliary enterprise expenses                   8,769,376
Depreciation and amortization                      121,952

Total operating expenses                 34,076,145
Operating income (loss)                 (3,947,158)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations, noncapital                               -   
Federal financial aid grants, noncapital                               -   
State financial aid grants, noncapital                               -   
Local financial aid grants, noncapital                               -   
Nongovernmental and other financial aid grants, noncapital                               -   
Other federal nonoperating grants, noncapital                               -   
Gifts, noncapital                               -   
Investment income (loss), net                      618,595
Endowment income (loss), net                               -   
Interest expense                      (31,374)
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)                               -   

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)                      587,221
Income (loss)  before other revenues (expenses)                 (3,359,937)

State appropriations, capital                               -   
Grants and gifts, capital                               -   
Additions (reductions) to permanent endowments                               -   

Increase (decrease) in net position                 (3,359,937)
Net position:
Net position at beginning of year, as previously reported                 11,450,104
Restatements                      (57,596)
Net position at beginning of year, as restated                 11,392,508
Net position at end of year  $              8,032,571 

 



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Other Information 
June 30, 2025 

(for inclusion in the California State University) 
 
 

See Independent Auditor's Report. 
 

42 

1 Cash and cash equivalents:
Portion of restricted cash and cash equivalents related to endowments  $                         -   
All other restricted cash and cash equivalents                             -   

Noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents                             -   
Current cash and cash equivalents                7,147,910 

Total $             7,147,910 

2.1 Composition of investments:
Investment Type Current Noncurrent Total

Money market funds $                          -    $               197,158                    197,158
Repurchase agreements                             -                               -                               -   
Certificates of deposit                             -                               -                               -   
U.S. agency securities                             -                               -                               -   
U.S. treasury securities                             -                     110,130                   110,130 
Municipal bonds                             -                       69,879                     69,879 
Corporate bonds                             -                     131,129                   131,129 
Asset backed securities                             -                               -                               -   
Mortgage backed securities                             -                               -                               -   
Commercial paper                             -                               -                               -   
Supranational                             -                               -                               -   
Mutual funds                             -                  1,686,235                1,686,235 
Exchange traded funds                             -                               -                               -   
Equity securities                             -                  1,682,778                1,682,778 
Alternative investments:                             -                               -                               -   

Private equity (including limited partnerships)                             -                     829,113                   829,113 
Hedge funds                             -                               -                               -   
Managed futures                             -                               -                               -   
Real estate investments (including REITs)                             -                               -                               -   
Commodities                             -                               -                               -   
Derivatives                             -                               -                               -   
Other alternative investment types                             -                               -                               -   

Other external investment pools                             -                               -                               -   
CSU Consolidated Investment Pool (formerly SWIFT)                             -                               -                               -   
State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)                             -                               -                               -   
State of California Surplus Money Investment Fund (SMIF)                             -                               -                               -   
Other investments:                             -                               -                               -   
Total Other investments                             -                               -                               -   

Total investments                             -                   4,706,422                 4,706,422
Less endowment investments (enter as negative number)                             -                                  -                                -

Total investments, net of endowments $                          -                   4,706,422                 4,706,422
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2.2 Fair value hierarchy in investments:

Investment Type

Total

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

Net Asset Value 
(NAV)

Money market funds $                197,158  $               197,158  $                         -    $                      -    $                             -   
Repurchase agreements                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Certificates of deposit                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
U.S. agency securities                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
U.S. treasury securities                    110,130                             -                     110,130                          -                                   -   
Municipal bonds                      69,879                             -                       69,879                          -                                   -   
Corporate bonds                    131,129                             -                     131,129                          -                                   -   
Asset backed securities                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Mortgage backed securities                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Commercial paper                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Supranational                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Mutual funds                 1,686,235                1,686,235                             -                            -                                   -   
Exchange traded funds                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Equity securities                 1,682,778                1,682,778                             -                            -                                   -   
Alternative investments:                             -                               -                            -                                   -   

Private equity (including limited partnerships)                    829,113                             -                               -                            -                          829,113 
Hedge funds                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Managed futures                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Real estate investments (including REITs)                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Commodities                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Derivatives                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Other alternative investment types                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   

Other external investment pools                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
CSU Consolidated Investment Pool (formerly SWIFT)                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
State of California Surplus Money Investment Fund (SMIF)                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   
Other investments:
Total other investments:                                -                             -                               -                            -                                   -   

Total investments $          4,706,422 $          3,566,171 $             311,138  $                      -   $                 829,113 

2.3 Investments held by the University under contractual agreements:

Current Noncurrent Total
Investments held by the University under contractual agreements 
e.g. - CSU Consolidated Investment Pool (formerly SWIFT): -$                       -$                       $                            - 
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3.1 Capital Assets, excluding ROU assets:
Composition of capital assets, excluding ROU assets:

Balance
June 30, 2024 Reclassifications

Prior Period 
Additions

Prior Period 
Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Retirements

Transfer of 
completed 

CWIP/PWIP
Balance

June 30, 2025
Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable capital assets:
Land and land improvements -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                      -$                             -$                       -$                     -$                   -$                   
Works of art and historical treasures -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Construction work in progress (CWIP) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Intangible assets:

Rights and easements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Intangible assets in progress (PWIP) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Other intangible assets:
Total Other intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable capital assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Depreciable/Amortizable capital assets:
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Leasehold improvements 519,835                  -                         -                         -                       519,835                      -                        -                      -                    519,835            
Personal property:
Equipment 208,323                  -                         -                         -                       208,323                      -                        -                      -                    208,323            
Library books and materials -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Intangible assets:

Software and websites -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Rights and easements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Other intangible assets:
Total Other intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total depreciable/amortizable capital assets 728,158                  -                         -                         -                       728,158                      -                        -                      -                    728,158            

Total capital assets 728,158                  -                         -                         -                       728,158                      -                        -                      -                    728,158            

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:  (enter as negative number, 
except for reductions enter as positive number)
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Leasehold improvements (315,449)                -                         -                         -                       (315,449)                     (76,762)                 -                      -                               (392,211)
Personal property:

Equipment (99,909)                  -                         -                         -                       (99,909)                       (45,190)                 -                      -                               (145,099)
Library books and materials -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -

Intangible assets:
Software and websites -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Rights and easements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Licenses and permits -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Other intangible assets:
Total Other intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -

Total intangible assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                             -
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization                  (415,358) -                         -                         -                                            (415,358)                (121,952) -                      -                               (537,310)

Total capital assets, net excluding lease assets 312,800$                -$                        -$                        -$                      312,800$                    (121,952)$             -$                     -$                   190,848$          



California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
 

Other Information 
June 30, 2025 

(for inclusion in the California State University) 
 
 

See Independent Auditor's Report. 
 

45 

Capital Assets, Right of Use

Composition of capital assets - Lease ROU, net:
Balance

June 30, 2024
Prior Period 

Reclassifications
Prior Period 

Additions
Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable lease assets:
Land and land improvements -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                  -$                  

Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable lease assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Depreciable/Amortizable lease assets:
Land and land improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Personal property:

Equipment -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total depreciable/amortizable lease assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:  (enter as negative number, 
except for reductions enter as positive number)
Land and land improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Personal property:

Equipment -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total lease assets, net -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                  -$                  

Composition of capital assets - SBITA ROU, net
Balance

June 30, 2024 Reclassifications
Prior Period 

Additions
Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Depreciable/Amortizable SBITA assets:
Software -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                         -$                  
Total depreciable/amortizable SBITA assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:
Software -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                           -                    

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total capital assets - SBITA ROU, net -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                  -$                  
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Composition of capital assets - P3 ROU, net:
Balance

June 30, 2024 Reclassifications
Prior Period 

Additions
Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable P3 assets:
Land and land improvements -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                         -$                  

Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable P3 assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Depreciable/Amortizable P3 assets:
Land and land improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Personal property:

Equipment -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total depreciable/amortizable P3 assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:
Land and land improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Buildings and building improvements -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Improvements, other than buildings -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Infrastructure -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Personal property:

Equipment -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total capital assets - P3 ROU, net -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    

Total capital assets, net including ROU assets               190,848

3.2 Detail of depreciation and amortization expense:
Depreciation and amortization expense - capital assets, excluding ROU assets $                121,952 
Amortization expense - Leases ROU -                         
Amortization expense - SBITA ROU -                         
Amortization expense - P3 ROU -                         
Depreciation and Amortization expense - Others -                         

Total depreciation and amortization $                121,952 
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4 Long-term liabilities:

Balance
June 30, 2024

Prior Period 
Adjustments/ 

Reclassifications

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025 Current Portion
Noncurrent 

Portion
1. Accrued compensated absences 373,105$                57,596$                  430,701$                (79,871)$              -$                            350,830$              350,830$            -$                  

2. Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

3. Capital lease obligations (pre-ASC 842):
Gross balance -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
Unamortized net premium/(discount) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

Total capital lease obligations (pre ASC 842) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

4. Long-term debt obligations:
4.1 Auxiliary revenue bonds (non-SRB related) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
4.2 Commercial paper -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                    
4.3 Notes payable (SRB related) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
4.4 Finance purchase of capital assets -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
4.5 Others:

Note Payable Other 1,244,620               -                         1,244,620               -                       (709,335)                     535,285                535,285              -                    
-                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                                                                                                                  
-                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

Total others 1,244,620               -                         1,244,620               -                       (709,335)                     535,285                535,285              -                    
Sub-total long-term debt 1,244,620               -                         1,244,620               -                       (709,335)                     535,285                535,285              -                    

4.6 Unamortized net bond premium/(discount) -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
Total long-term debt obligations 1,244,620               -                         1,244,620               -                       (709,335)                     535,285                535,285              -                    

5. Lease, SBITA, P3 liabilities:
Balance

June 30, 2024

Prior Period 
Adjustments/ 

Reclassifications Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025 Current Portion
Noncurrent 

Portion
Lease liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
SBITA liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
P3 liabilities - SCA -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
P3 liabilities - non-SCA -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

Sub-total P3 liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    
Total Lease, SBITA, P3 liabilities -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    

$               886,115 $             886,115 -$                   
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5 Lease Liabilities schedule:

Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest
Year ending June 30:
2026 -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                     -$                            -$                      -$                    -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
2027 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2028 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2029 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2030 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2031 - 2035 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2036 - 2040 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2041 - 2045 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2046 - 2050 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2051 - 2055 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Thereafter -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total minimum lease payments -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Less: amounts representing interest -                    
Present value of future minimum lease payments -                    
Total Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities -                    

Less: current portion -                    
Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities, net of current portion -$                   

6 Future minimum payments schedule - Long-term debt obligations:

Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest Principal Only Interest Only
Principal and 

Interest

Year ending June 30:
2026 -$                       -$                       -$                       535,285$             10,706$                      545,991$              535,285$            10,706$            545,991$          
2027 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2028 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2029 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2030 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2031 - 2035 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2036 - 2040 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2041 - 2045 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2046 - 2050 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
2051 - 2055 -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Thereafter -                         -                         -                         -                       -                              -                        -                      -                    -                    
Total minimum payments -                         -                         -                         535,285               10,706                        545,991                535,285              10,706              545,991            

Less: amounts representing interest              (10,706)
Present value of future minimum payments               535,285
Unamortized net premium/(discount)                          -

Total long-term debt obligations               535,285
Less: current portion            (535,285)
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion $                      - 

7 Transactions with related entities:
Payments to University for salaries of University personnel working on 
contracts, grants, and other programs 2,113,374$             
Payments to University for other than salaries of University personnel 1,634,626               
Payments received from University for services, space, and programs 4,517,561               

Gifts-in-kind to the University from discretely presented component units -                         
Gifts (cash or assets) to the University from discretely presented component 
units -                         
Accounts (payable to) University (5,103,655)             
Other amounts (payable to) University -                         
Accounts receivable from University 586,729                  
Other amounts receivable from University -                         

8 Restatements

Note: Additional account details can be found in the Table of Object Codes and 
CSU Fund Definitions Debit/(Credit)

Restatement #1
Accounting Change — Accounting Principle 57,596$                      

                       (57,596)

                                -   
Restatement #2

Select the reason for restatement:
Select net position category:

                                -   

Lease Liabilities SBITA liabilities Public-Private or Public-Public Partnerships (P3) Total Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities

Auxiliary revenue bonds (non-SRB related) All other long-term debt obligations Total long-term debt obligations

Provide a detailed breakdown of the journal entries (at the financial statement line items level) booked to record each restatement:

Enter transaction description
Unrestricted
Accrued compensated absences, current portion
Accrued compensated absences,  net of current portion

Enter transaction description
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9 Natural classifications of operating expenses:

Salaries Benefits - Other Benefits - Pension Benefits - OPEB
Scholarships and 

fellowships
Supplies and 
other services

Depreciation 
and 

amortization
Total operating 

expenses

Instruction 1,171,325$             322,078$                9,533$                                              -                                   -  2,735,879$                                  -             4,238,815
Research 3,623,356               570,475                  51,128                                              -                                   -  697,623                                       -  4,942,582         
Public service                             -                              -                              -                            -                                   -                            -                         -  -                    
Academic support 4,027,172               519,081                  48,460                                              -                                   -  3,591,706                                    -  8,186,419         
Student services 1,449,906               323,765                  70,938                                              -                                   -  1,124,936                                    -  2,969,545         
Institutional support 1,360,664               212,059                  12,693                                              -                                   -  3,192,553                                    -  4,777,969         
Operation and maintenance of plant                             -                              -                              -                            -                                   -                            -                         -  -                    
Student grants and scholarships                             -                              -                              -                            -  69,488                                                  -                         -  69,488              
Auxiliary enterprise expenses 2,320,626               264,341                  124,712                  127,200                                                -  5,932,496                                    -  8,769,375         
Depreciation and amortization                             -                              -                              -                            -                                   -                            -  121,952              121,952            

Total operating expenses $           13,953,049 $             2,211,799 $                317,464 $              127,200 $                       69,488 $          17,275,193 $             121,952 $      34,076,145 

Select type of pension plan >>
Defined 

Contribution Plan

10 Deferred outflows/inflows of resources:
1. Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred outflows - unamortized loss on refunding(s) -$                       
Deferred outflows - net pension liability -                         
Deferred outflows - net OPEB liability 474,728                  
Deferred outflows - leases -                         
Deferred outflows - P3 -                         
Deferred outflows - others:

Sales/intra-entity transfers of future revenues -                         
Gain/loss on sale leaseback -                         
Loan origination fees and costs -                         
Change in fair value of hedging derivative instrument -                         
Irrevocable split-interest agreements -                         

Total deferred outflows - others -                         
Total deferred outflows of resources $                474,728 

2. Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows - service concession arrangements -$                       
Deferred inflows - net pension liability -                         
Deferred inflows - net OPEB liability 324,246                  
Deferred inflows - unamortized gain on debt refunding(s) -                         
Deferred inflows - nonexchange transactions -                         
Deferred inflows - leases -                         
Deferred inflows - P3 -                         
Deferred inflows - others:

Sales/intra-entity transfers of future revenues -                         
Gain/loss on sale leaseback -                         
Loan origination fees and costs -                         
Change in fair value of hedging derivative instrument -                         
Irrevocable split-interest agreements -                         

Total deferred inflows - others -                         
Total deferred inflows of resources $                324,246 

11 Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Other nonoperating revenues -$                       
Other nonoperating (expenses) -                         
Total other nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                         
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Description
 Pension trust funds

Net Position 992

Other employee benefit trust 
funds

Net Position 993
Investment trust funds

Net Position 994
Private-purpose trust funds

Net Position 995
Custodial funds
Net Position 996 Total

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -$                                      -$                                      -$                                      -$                                      474,435$                               474,435$                               

Short-term investments -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Accounts receivable, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Lease receivable, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 receivable, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Notes receivable, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Pledges receivable, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Prepaid expenses and other current assets -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total current assets -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        474,435                                 474,435                                 

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Accounts receivable, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Lease receivables, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 receivable, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Notes receivable, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Student loans receivable, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Pledges receivable, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Endowment investments -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Other long-term investments -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Capital assets, net -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Capital assets, net - lease ROU -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Capital assets, net - SBITA ROU -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Capital assets, net - P3 ROU -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Other assets -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total noncurrent assets -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total assets -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        474,435                                 474,435                                 

Deferred outflows of resources:

Unamortized loss on debt refunding -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net pension liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net OPEB liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Leases -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Others -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total deferred outflows of resources -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

DPCU - Fiduciary Funds Net Position
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Liabilities

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        113                                        113                                        

Accrued salaries and benefits -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Accrued compensated absences, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Unearned revenues -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Lease liabilities, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

SBITA liabilities - current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 liabilities - current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Long-term debt obligations, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Depository accounts -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Other liabilities -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        1,464                                     1,464                                     

Total current liabilities -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        1,577                                     1,577                                     

Noncurrent liabilities:

Accrued compensated absences, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Unearned revenues -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Grants refundable -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Lease liabilities, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

SBITA liabilities, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 liabilities, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of current portion -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Depository accounts -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net other postemployment benefits liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net pension liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Other liabilities -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total noncurrent liabilities -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total liabilities -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        1,577                                     1,577                                     

Deferred inflows of resources:

P3 service concession arrangements -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net pension liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net OPEB liability -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Unamortized gain on debt refunding -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Nonexchange transactions -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Lease -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

P3 -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Others -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Total deferred inflows of resources -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        -                                        

Net position

Total ending net position -$                                      -$                                      -$                                      -$                                      472,858$                               472,858$                               
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GAAP Account Description
Pension trust funds

Net Position 992

Other employee benefit 
trust funds

Net Position 993
Investment trust funds

Net Position 994

Private-purpose trust 
funds

Net Position 995
Custodial funds
Net Position 996 Total

Additions Contributions from employers -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              

Additions Contributions from nonemployer contributing entities -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions Contributions from plan members -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions Contributions from all sources -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions Investment earnings -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions Investment costs -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions Program Income -                                -                                -                                -                                104,227                        104,227                        

Additions Gifts -                                -                                -                                -                                3,893                            3,893                            

Additions Other income -                                -                                -                                -                                448,240                        448,240                        

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total Additions -                                -                                -                                -                                                         556,360                          556,360 

Deductions Benefit payments to plan members -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions Total administrative expenses -                                -                                -                                -                                77,865                          77,865                          

Deductions Benefit payments -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions Redemptions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions Distributions -                                -                                -                                -                                265,381                        265,381                        

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total Deductions -                                -                                -                                -                                                         343,246                          343,246 

-                                -                                -                                -                                                         213,114                          213,114 

-                                -                                -                                -                                259,744                        259,744                        

-                                -                                -                                -                                                                  -   

-                                -                                -                                -                                                         259,744                          259,744 

-$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              472,858$                      472,858$                      

DPCU - Fiduciary Funds Net Position

Increase (decrease) in net position

Net position at beginning of year, as previously reported

Restatements

Net position at beginning of year, as restated

Net position at end of year
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors 
California State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners 
(A California State University Auxiliary Organization) 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining fund information of California 
State University, Dominguez Hills Toro Auxiliary Partners ("TAP") as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise TAP's basic 
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 25, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TAP's internal control 
over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TAP's internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of TAP's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2025-001, that we consider to be a material 
weakness. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether TAP's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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TAP's Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on TAP's response 
to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
responses. TAP's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
Los Angeles, California 
September 25, 2025 
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Schedule of Findings and Responses 
Year Ended June 30, 2025 
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Finding No. 2025-001 
 
Criteria 
Internal controls should be in place to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

Condition / Context 
During the year ended June 30, 2025, various adjustments were identified related to the following: 

• Unbalanced intercompany accounts 
• Expenses not recorded in proper period 
• Reconciliation of grants receivable and deferred revenue 
• Reconciliation of accrued compensated absences 

Cause 
Proper controls were not in place to ensure that the above accounts are appropriately and timely 
reconciled. 

Effect or Potential Effect 
To ensure that the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025, are appropriately prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP, audit adjustments of $4,100,401 were required to decrease grants 
receivable and deferred revenue, audit adjustments of $174,753 were required to increase accrued 
compensated absences and the related payroll expenses, and audit adjustments of $522,090 were 
required to correctly balance intercompany accounts. In addition, $159,726 of expenditures were 
identified as being recorded in improper periods. 
 
Repeat Finding 
Yes, see prior year finding 2024-001 
 
Auditor's Recommendation 
TAP should reinforce existing policies and update policies to reflect all the processes regarding proper 
accounting in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

Management Response 
Management has reviewed TAP's existing policies and related internal controls, and implemented 
controls to ensure all processes regarding the account reconciliations are accurately recorded to 
provide reasonable assurance that financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
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